IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-378

ALEX PAGAN,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter J. Cannon
Fla. Bar. No. 0109710
Assistant CCRC
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel-Middle
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813)740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the original record on appeal are cited as “ROA” followed by the volume number and the page. References to the post-conviction hearing are referenced as “EH” followed by the page. Exhibits introduced during post-conviction are cited by reference to the exhibit.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Pagan has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Pagan, through counsel, urges the Court to permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Alex Pagan was indicted by the Grand Jury for the 17th Judicial Circuit, Broward County Florida, on March 25, 1993, for two counts of first-degree premeditated murder, two counts of attempted first-degree premeditated murder, armed burglary and armed robbery (ROA Volume I, 5-7). Pagan was tried by jury on November 4, 1996 through December 17, 1996, before the Honorable Susan Lebow in Broward County, Florida. On

December 20, 1996, the jury found Pagan guilty as charged on all counts (ROA Volume I, 912-17). On February 26, 1997, the jury reconvened for the penalty phase proceedings. On March 5, 1997, the jury recommended by a vote of seven to five that Pagan be sentenced to death as to counts one and two (ROA Volume I, 1058-1061). On June 30, 1997 and July 31, 1997, the Court conducted a Spencer hearing. Pagan was sentenced by the Court on October 15, 1998. Reading from a prepared Order (ROA Volume I, 1114-1126), the Court found the following aggravating circumstances: the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use and/or threat of violence (great weight); the capital felonies were committed during the course of/or attempt to commit armed burglary and armed robbery (significant weight); the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. The Court declined to find the existence of this aggravating circumstance; and the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (great weight).

The Court considered the following statutory mitigating circumstances: the defendant's age at the time of the crime. The Court declined to find the existence of this mitigating circumstance.

The Court considered the following non-statutory mitigators and accorded them some to little weight: childhood deprivation (some weight);

the Defendant suffers from attention deficit disorder (little weight); the Defendant has a borderline personality disorder (some weight); the Defendant was emotionally abused as a child. The Court declined to find the existence of this mitigating circumstance; the Defendant has a history of emotional problems including suicide attempts. The Court did not find this mitigating circumstance to vary from the finding that the Defendant suffered from borderline personality disorder (some weight); the Defendant is a loving brother (little weight); the Defendant is a loving son, grandson, and great grandson (little weight); the Defendant engaged in good contact while in custody awaiting trial (some weight); and the Defendant is a loving friend (little weight).

After considering all aggravating and mitigating circumstances, the Court concluded that death, as recommended by the jury, was the appropriate sentence for the first degree murder of Michael Lynn and Freddie Lafayette Jones. Pagan was sentenced to life on counts 3, 4, 5, and 6.

On direct appeal Pagan raised the following arguments: (A) the evidence was insufficient to support Alex Pagan's convictions; (B) the trial court reversibly erred in allowing Williams Rule evidence concerning a January 23, 1993 burglary that was dissimilar factually and temporally; (C)

the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion to suppress physical evidence; (D) the trial court reversibly erred by refusing to grant a new trial and refusing to declare a mistrial when the prosecutor impermissibly bolstered the credibility of a state witness; (E) the trial court reversibly erred by allowing a surreptitiously recorded hearsay conversation in violation of Alex Pagan's state and federal constitutional rights; (F) the trial court reversibly erred by denying Alex Pagan's motion for a new trial and upholding the state's *Batson* challenge to a juror; (G) the trial court reversibly erred in refusing to order a new trial; (H) the trial court reversibly erred in refusing to grant one or more of Alex Pagan's motions for mistrial; (I) the trial court reversibly erred in permitting prejudicial inflammatory photographs of the deceased to be shown to the jury; (J) the trial court reversibly erred by denying a motion for new trial upon a Richardson violation when testimony concerning a voice line-up was permitted; (K) the trial court reversibly erred by denying the defendant's motion for mistrial when the prosecutor in closing argument made references to the "Golden Rule" with respect to improper inflammatory references preventing the defendant from committing crimes again; (L) the trial court reversibly erred in denying the defendant's motion for mistrial when the prosecutor in closing argument made references to a camouflage jacket from the Desert

Storm War which was not in evidence, and which was highly prejudice to the defense; (M) the trial court reversibly erred by permitting over defense objections testimony of Keith Jackson concerning the death of a six (6) year old child; (N) the trial court reversibly erred in overruling objections and permitting the medical examiner to express expert opinions on glass without any predicate when the medical examiner lacked the qualifications to give expert opinions on the characteristics of the glass manufacturer, its composition, and whether someone would be injured breaking through glass; (O) the trial court reversibly erred in granting the State's motion for a voice line-up and in allowing testimony relating to the voice line-up; (P) cumulative errors require reversal and remand; and (Q) reversal is required as Alex Pagan's death sentence is disproportionate.

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Pagan's convictions and sentences in *Pagan v. State*, 830 So.2d 792 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, 539 U.S. 919, 123 S.Ct. 2278, 156 L.Ed.2d 137, 71 USLW 3758 (2003). The Office of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Southern Region was appointed on November 7, 2002 to represent Pagan in post-conviction proceedings. On January 10, 2003, the Office of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Southern Region filed a Motion to Withdraw based upon a conflict of interest, which was granted by this Court on January 14, 2003. The

Office of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle Region accepted appointment of counsel and filed a Notice of Appearance on March 4, 2003.

On June 8, 2004, Mr. Pagan filed a motion for post-conviction relief. On January 18, 2005, the lower court entered an order addressing the 21 claims for relief. An evidentiary hearing was held on February 7th, 8th, and 9th in 2005. A year later on February 7, 2006, the lower court entered an order denying relief. Mr. Pagan timely filed his appeal.

The life of Alex Pagan resembles a Greek tragedy. A tragic drama where the central character, the protagonist, the “hero”, suffers misfortune which is not accidental but is significant. This misfortune is logically connected with the protagonist’s actions. Tragedy stresses the vulnerability of human beings whose suffering is brought on by a combination of human and divine architects and their actions, but is generally undeserved with regard to its harshness. *Brady* and *Wiggins* error cases, such as Mr. Pagan’s, are classic examples of the tragic drama played out where events occur that are beyond the control of the defendant. As the “past is prologue”, Mr. Pagan’s past, unknown and unexplored by his jury, illustrates how difficult his life was to become from the minute he was born.

The son of Miguel Pagan and Maria Rivera, Alex Pagan was born out-of-wedlock in New York City. His father, Miguel Pagan was using cocaine

heavily and became extremely drug dependant. He would leave his family at night to consume drugs. As his drug habit got worse, Miguel Pagan would deal drugs to buy what he needed most: cocaine. Nothing else mattered to him. Not Maria, not his two children, not even his freedom. As a result of his severe addiction, Miguel Pagan would be arrested and incarcerated in state and federal prisons for drug offenses. Tragically, Alex Pagan's first and most important male role model, his father, was a convicted drug dealer and drug addict.

His mother, Maria, was inadequately prepared to handle the responsibility of parenthood on her own. Living in what has been described as a "war zone", she would befriend numerous male partners that controlled the criminal activity in her neighborhood as a means of support and protection. These local crime lords would shower attention and money on Maria Rivera. They would also bring drugs and guns into her home. Ladies floral arrangements and fatherly neckties were replaced by table centerpieces of cocaine kilos and gunbelts. Selfish of her own needs and wants, Maria did nothing to protect her impressionable son from such corrupting influences. Rather, she welcomed them into her home and criminals into her family. Alex Pagan's most enduring and lasting male role model was "Poppy Joe", a violent career criminal. For Alex, the attention was mistaken

for affection which turned into idolization. When “Poppy Joe” was sent to prison for a violent felony, Maria dragged her children on the six hour bus trip to see him in prison. This was the man Alex Pagan grew up calling “father”.

People outside of his family continued this tragic drama. While only 10 years old, Alex was sexually abused by an older female. This abuse would continue for years until he, in turn repeated this cycle on a 14 year old girl. While no one stood up for Alex when he was 10 - no one proclaimed that sexual abuse of children was wrong when he suffered it - Alex paid a heavy burden for his actions. Locked up and sent to prison, Alex suffered physical and emotional abuse at the hands of older and more powerful prison inmates.

By the time he had reached his early 20's, a time when many young people look to the future, Alex withdrew to the world of drugs and alcohol. Combined with his ADHD and brain damage, Alex once again found himself in trouble facing the most serious sanction this, or any society, can give: the death penalty. However, instead of correcting this tragic drama, the criminal justice system perpetuated it. His conviction was slowly engineered by prosecutors and lying witnesses while the only person who could save his life, his attorney, did little or nothing to change the tragic

conclusion. From conception to his sentence of death, Alex Pagan was driven by events beyond his control and abandoned by every meaningful individual. It is no surprise, based on everything we know now, how the past would have played out. It would have ended in tragedy.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The past few years have witnessed a subtle but tremendous change in the United States Supreme Court's jurisprudence as it relates to mitigation in death penalty cases. Under the old standards announced in *Strickland*, very little could be argued on post-conviction if the trial attorney invoked the protective shield of "strategy". Today, many of the old notions of "strategy" are gone. Beginning with *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), through *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510 (2003) to the decision in *Florida v. Nixon*, 125 S.Ct. 551 (2004), the concept of mitigation has become more broad and more inclusive than ever before. The duty to fully and thoroughly investigate facts must be done before an attorney can claim that he did not present certain mitigation as part of his trial strategy. *Wiggins*. Strategic reasons not to present certain mitigation because possible unfavorable evidence may surface as a result, is no longer reasonable and constitutes deficient performance. *Williams*. Failure to investigate mitigation because of the client's demands is no longer acceptable. *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S.

374 (2005); *see also*, *Hamblin v. Mitchell*, 354 F.3d 482 (6th Cir. 2003), *cert. denied*, 125 S.Ct. 344 (2004). Finally, an attorney’s claim that he or she would simply not have presented that particular mitigation to the jury is now deficient performance. *Williams*.

The scope of mitigation has also been defined, or more appropriately, returned to its original definition. The United States Supreme Court in *Tennard v. Dretke*, 124 S.Ct. 2562 (2004) and *Smith v. Texas*, 125 S.Ct. 400 (2004) reiterated that mitigation must be defined “in the most expansive terms”, rejecting state court attempts to create a “nexus” of mitigation to the crime or a threshold of relevance beyond “any fact that is of consequence” which a fact-finder may “deem to have mitigating value”. This “low threshold of relevance” fully incorporates the necessity to conduct a complete biopsychosocial history of the accused, including past family history. Thus, “virtually no limits are placed on the relevant mitigating evidence a capital defendant may introduce concerning his own circumstances.”

With the Supreme Court’s decision in *Wiggins*, the importance of the ABA GUIDELINES FOR THE APPOINTMENT AND PERFORMANCE OF COUNSEL IN DEATH PENALTY CASES (2003) cannot be emphasized enough. Recently, in the Supreme Court’s *Nixon* decision, the Court utilized the newest 2003

Guidelines and the *Commentary* in granting the State of Florida's appeal from a 1984 trial. With the adoption of the *ABA Guidelines*, *Wiggins* is now applicable to all stages of Florida's trifurcated capital trial.

This Court has been busy as well in the area of prosecutorial misconduct. Two cases underscore this Court's concern over non-disclosure of evidence by the State. In both *Mordenti v. State*, 894 So.2d 161 (Fla. 2004), and *Floyd v. State*, 902 So.2d 775 (Fla. 2005), this Court reversed capital convictions based on *Brady* violations. While this Court worked within existing state and federal constitutional law, the Court's application of the prejudice prong of *Brady* appears to be a more expansive threshold than previously used. For example in *Mordenti*, the Court found two main *Brady* violations and, in *Floyd*, one. These violations were analyzed against a myriad of evidence presented and upheld on direct appeal. The *Floyd* court went so far as to turn a direct evidence case, with a confession, a bloody sock and possession of the decedent's stolen property, to a circumstantial case. Neither defendant, like Mr. Pagan, had any direct physical evidence connecting them to the crime.

The legal error in Mr. Pagan's case does resemble Greek tragedy where shadow - powers, prosecutors and parents, lawyers and experts - controlled the outcome of Mr. Pagan's life more than he could himself.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE STATE VIOLATED THE PROVISIONS OF BRADY V. MARYLAND, KYLES V. WHITLEY AND THEIR PROGENY WHEN THEY SUPPRESSED EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE IDENTITY OF AN ALTERNATE SUSPECT CONTAINED IN A POLICE REPORT IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.¹

It is clear from the outset of these proceedings that the prosecutor in this case, Peter LaPorte, played the role of architect in the case against Alex Pagan with a host of willing characters. One character, Detective Learned, received information that co-defendant Willie Graham had been soliciting the murder of Detective Peluso, one of the lead detectives in Mr. Pagan's case, on April 2, 1993. This was from "reliable information" from a reliable informant gathered by law enforcement. This information was memorialized in a suppressed police report and introduced into evidence as defense exhibit 1 (EH - 17). Contained in this report is a reference to an "Alex Ramirez" who resides in "Turtle Bay". Alex Ramirez was the original name obtained by law enforcement as one of the two people who

¹ Originally presented as Claim III in the Motion to Vacate.

committed this crime. It was this name that was on the search and arrest warrant (EH - 35). The State Attorney did not turn over this April 2, 1993, report (EH - 18). This report was furnished to collateral counsel pursuant to a request made under Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.852.

Post-Conviction counsel called Mr. Pagan's trial attorney, Dennis Colleran, as a witness for Claim III of the motion alleging that the State had committed a *Brady* violation when it failed to turn over the police report introduced as defense exhibit 1. To establish a *Brady* violation, a defendant must demonstrate: "(1) the State possessed evidence favorable to the accused because it was either exculpatory or impeaching; (2) the State willfully or inadvertently suppressed the evidence; and (3) the defendant was prejudiced." *Allen v. State*, 854 So.2d 1255, 1259 (Fla.2003) (citing *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281 82, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999)); *see also Banks v. Dretke*, 540 U.S. 668, 124 S.Ct. 1256, 1272, 157 L.Ed.2d 1166 (2004).

Mr. Colleran testified during the evidentiary hearing as to the importance of the information contained in the suppressed police report. Mr. Colleran's theory of defense was that Keith Jackson, an individual originally arrested for this offense, was more involved in the case than he led others to believe and that the police believed he was more involved than what was

disclosed during discovery and trial. (EH - 16). Mr. Colleran's defense theory was consistent throughout the entire proceedings. He testified that he filed a motion to obtain grand jury testimony, motion to dismiss, a motion to suppress physical evidence and a motion to suppress statements. (EH - 17). All of these motions were premised on the fact that Mr. Jackson was a major participant in the offense and that he had falsely implicated Mr. Pagan to save himself. (EH - 17).

After reviewing the suppressed police report, Mr. Colleran testified that the information it contained was more detailed than the information that he possessed. (EH - 21). At the time of the trial, "Alejandro" or "Alex" Ramirez was implicated by Jackson and the police as one of the individuals responsible for the offense. (EH - 20-21). The name Alex Pagan does not become part of the case until after the defendant is arrested. The suppressed report could have been used by Mr. Colleran in several ways.

In attacking the credibility of law enforcement and its investigation, the suppressed report would have been used by Mr. Colleran to bolster his argument in his motion to suppress. He described the suppressed information as "pivotal" because one of his main arguments was that Jackson, and thus law enforcement, was not being truthful when he stated that he did not know of the last name of the individual cited in the arrest and

search warrants. (EH - 24). Mr. Colleran could have testified that law enforcement did have “reliable information” regarding an “Alex Ramirez” who resides in “Turtle Bay”. A very detailed description of an individual’s name and location, information very different from that used by law enforcement to obtain the physical evidence and arrest warrant.

Mr. Colleran could have used the report to impeach Mr. Jackson and implicate him further in the offense. As further established by the State in the introduction of State’s exhibits 2, 3, 4, and 5, Mr. Colleran was aware of an individual named Alex Ramirez from the pleadings and discovery. (EH - 35-36). On two occasions, Mr. Colleran requested that his investigators investigate a connection between Keith Jackson and Willie Graham, the co-defendant in the case. (EH - 40). On July 26, 1993, in a letter introduced as State’s Exhibit 4, Mr. Colleran requested that his investigator investigate the name of Alex Ramirez. Again, on August 8, 1995, Mr. Colleran, requested information that may have lead to a connection between Jackson, Graham and Ramirez. (EH 41-42). When asked by the State how the suppressed report could have been used to connect all three individuals, Mr. Colleran replied:

To me it would have meant Mr. Graham, either Anthony or Willie, was associating with the man that Keith Jackson identified as the perpetrator of these crimes. And since Graham had been convicted as the co-defendant, or in the case of his brother, Anthony as a suspect in

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