#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-378

ALEX PAGAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

......

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

Quezada further testified that he went home after dropping off Pagan and Graham, and he did not expect to see them again that night. However, later the same night he responded to a knock on the door-it was Pagan. Pagan came into the apartment and told Quezada that he had killed everyone, including the children. Pagan asked Quezada to take Graham to the bus station. In response to Quezada's inquiry of how they had gotten to his house, Pagan said they had stolen the victim's car, left it at a supermarket, and offered someone gas money in exchange for a ride to Quezada's apartment.

Quezada agreed to take Graham to the bus station. Graham appeared upset and indicated he was mad because they "didn't get anything." Prior to going to the bus station, the three (Quezada, Pagan, and Graham) drove to South Beach and other parts of Miami for one and one-half to two hours. During this ride, the home invasion and murders were discussed, including the disposition of the gun that was used. When initially questioned by the police, Quezada maintained he was with Pagan all night on the night of the murders. He later said this alibi was a lie.

Keith Jackson also testified that Pagan admitted committed the home invasion murders. He also explained that the Jones home was targeted for a burglary because the occupant was a big drug dealer and they could get some money from the house. Although really said he was not interested burglarizing the house, he participated in several conversations with Pagan and Graham about a possible burglary. Jackson said that on January 23 he received a call from Pagan and Graham saying they had "hit" the house. When they came to Jackson's house, they had a lot of gold jewelry, including a chain with Latasha's name on it. At trial, Jackson identified some of the jewelry he had previously seen. Pagan and Graham took see the house they had burglarized indicated they were going to go back because they had not gotten all of the money that was supposed to be in the house.

Jackson testified that on the day after the murders he tried to get in touch with Graham but was

unsuccessful. He got in touch with Pagan, and Pagan and Quezada came to Jackson's house. During a conversation in the bedroom between Jackson and Pagan, Pagan admitted to shooting everybody in the house. Additionally, Pagan told him they had dismantled the gun and scattered it over Miami. Jackson told Pagan that two witnesses were not dead, the baby and the female. On another occasion, Jackson said Pagan told him he shot the people because a light came on in the house and he thought they may have seen his face.

. . .

After the State presented evidence concerning Pagan's prior criminal record, a sexual battery and two aggravated batteries, the defense put on its case mitigation. The witnesses included family, neighborhood friends, an attorney, and a records supervisor with the Broward Sheriff's Office. first witness called was Pagan's uncle, Carmello Miranda. Mr. Miranda testified that Pagan's parents separated when he was approximately two years old. Mr. Miranda babysat and spent a lot of time with Pagan. He indicated Pagan was a good boy, who was always helpful around the house and in the neighborhood. Pagan told his children to stay in school and do their best.

Video depositions of Yolanda Esbro and Anthony Penia were played for the jury. Ms. Esbro knew Pagan from the neighborhood he grew up in; her son was a close friend of Pagan's when they were in the third grade and the two remained close thereafter. She opined that Pagan and his sister got along well. Anthony Penia was Pagan's best friend growing up. He said Pagan was a funny, nice, and good person.

Maria Rivera, Pagan's mother, testified concerning his childhood and relationship with his father, Michael Pagan. She indicated that Michael was married when she first met him. When Pagan was seven months old, she had an altercation with Michael, and Michael physically abused her. After her daughter Yvette was born, she tried to make up with Michael, but he said he did not love her and had someone else. Maria was able to take care of the children with the help of her grandmother. During this time, the father did not visit. When Pagan was eighteen years old, he

was charged with an offense against a girl. He spent four or five years in prison. After his release, he started drinking and his personality changed.

Pagan's great-grandmother, Provilencia Alasaya, testified that she raised him in New York. His sister, Yvette Pagan, testified he was a good brother to her and treated her with respect.

Livingston, a classification records Sharon Broward supervisor with the Sheriff's testified she reviewed his file and noted he had been incarcerated since his arrest in 1993. During that time he had not accumulated any disciplinary reports; he had an exemplary prison record. Michael Rocque, a lawyer and law professor at Nova Law School, testified he represented Pagan for a year but had to withdraw from the case because of personal problems. Rocque indicated Pagan helped him by giving him positive advice concerning his personal life.

The penalty jury recommended the (sic) Pagan be sentenced to death by a vote of seven to five.

Dr. Martha Jacobson, a licensed psychologist and expert in the field of forensic psychology, testified on Pagan's behalf at the Spencer hearing. She indicated Pagan has a borderline personality disorder and suffered from attention deficit disorder as a child. In response to Dr. Jacobson's testimony, the State presented Dr. Harley Stock, a forensic psychologist, who disputed Jacobson's finding borderline personality disorder, concluding instead suffered from antisocial that Pagan personality disorder. Dr. Stock also took issue Jacobson's conclusion that Pagan suffered attention deficit disorder, finding instead that Pagan scored high on tests requiring attention to detail and environment. Moreover, the doctor indicated Pagan had no problem paying attention during his lengthy jail interview.

Other defense evidence was presented at the Spencer hearing, including a videotaped deposition of Michael Pagan, the defendant's father. The testimony of Pagan's aunt, Doris Bardandaes, concerning Pagan's relationship with his family during the course of his

life was also received by the trial judge. A former roommate, Cynthia Valera, presented evidence concerning Pagan's relationship with her two small children and Pagan's actions and attitudes when he had been drinking.

The trial court entered its sentencing order on October 15, 1998, imposing a sentence of death for each of the murders. In support of the sentences, the trial court found three aggravating circumstances: that Pagan had been convicted of a prior violent felony; that the murder was committed during the course of a felony; and that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. The trial court also found as a statutory mitigating circumstance, under the catch-all of any other factor, that Pagan had a deprived childhood. Several nonstatutory mitigators found, including that Pagan suffered from borderline attention deficit disorder; had а personality disorder; was a loving brother; was a loving grandson and great grandson; was a loving friend; and displayed good conduct while in custody.

Pagan, 830 So.2d at 799-802 (footnotes omitted).

Seventeen issues were raised and rejected on direct

<sup>1 1-</sup>sufficiency of the evidence; 2-error to allow <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence of prior burglary; 3-error to deny motion to suppress; 4-error to permit state to bolster witness credibility; 5-surreptiously recorded conversation should have been suppressed; 6-error to uphold State's <u>Batson</u> challenge; 7-error in denying new trial; 8-error to deny one/more mistrials; 9-error to show photographs of deceased; 10-discovery violation concerning voice line-up; 11-Stae made improper golden rule argument; 12-error to reference Desert Storm camouflage jacket; 13-error to allow Jackson to explain he decided to testify because of six-year old child's death; 14-error to permit medical examiner to give expert opinion on glass; 15-error to allow voice line-up and admit testimony; 16-cumulative errors; 17-proportionality. (Initial Brief SC60-94365).

This Court found sufficient evidence from Pagan's confession (direct evidence), his statements of intent connecting him with Graham and their prior burglary of the Jones' home showing motive, the victim's jewelry and property found in Pagan's apartment, and Pagan's admissions to Antonio Quezada and Keith

appeal. <u>Pagan</u>, 830 So.2d at 805-17. On November 7, 2002, Pagan's rehearing on various issues and the new claim that the sentence was unconstitutional under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), was denied. The Supreme Court, on June 9, 2004, denied Pagan's petition for certiorari raising the <u>Ring</u> claim. <u>Pagan v.</u> Florida, 539 U.S. 919 (2003).

On June 8, 2004, Pagan filed his motion for postconviction

Jackson. Pagan, 830 So.2d at 803-04. This Court rejected the challenge to the Williams rule evidence finding the January 1993 burglary was not dissimilar and was not a feature of the case. Id., at 805-06. The search warrant was proper; it established probable cause, any omissions/inaccuracies were insufficient to void such finding, and the property seized did not exceed the scope of the warrant. Id., at 806-09. The claim of prosecutorial misconduct alleging improper bolstering of a witness was rejected; State's argument was a direct/fair/accurate response to defense arguments. Id., at 809. No error was found in the admission of a tape of a conversation between Quezada and Jackson as it rebutted the defense claim of recent fabrication. Id., at 809-10. The denial of a strike of Juror Laster was found unpreserved. Pagan, 830 So.2d at 810. Denial of a new trial and various motions for mistrial were affirmed as they were not argued with specificity, thus, were waived. Id., at 810-11. While unpreserved, the photographs of the deceased child were admitted properly. Id. at 811. The record refuted claim of discovery violation regarding voice lineup; admissibility of voice lineup was unpreserved. Id., at 811-12. The State's closing argument "in no way violate[d]" the prohibition of "golden rule" arguments. Id., at 812-13. With respect to the State's referencing Graham wearing a Desert Storm camouflage jacket, this Court found the reference to the camouflage jacket proper, but identifying it as "Desert Storm", improper, yet harmless, as that fact could not be reasonably inferred from the evidence. Id., at 813. Jackson's motivation for cooperating (child's death) was relevant jury issue. The motions for mistrial were denied properly. Id., at 813-14. There was no error in permitting the medical examiner to testify about injuries caused by glass. Id., at 814-15. There was no cumulative error as there was only one harmless error. Id. at 815. Pagan's sentence was proportional. Id., at 817.

relief. A Case Management Hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) was held on November 5, 2004, resulting in the court granting a hearing on Claims III, XI, XII, and XIII while reserving on the other issues raised. evidentiary hearing was held on February 7th - 9th, 2005 at which time Pagan presented evidence and testimony on his four claims combined as: (1) a Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1962) violation arising from the State's alleged failure to disclose a police report noting Alex Ramirez resided in Turtle Bay (Claim III); (2) ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984) and Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 69 (1985) as related his investigation/presentation of mitigation and mental health evidence (Claims X and XI); and (3) ineffectiveness under Strickland for counsel's failure to challenge the facts of the prior violent felony conviction (indecent assault) used in aggravation (Claim XIII). In support of his claims, Pagan called trial counsel, Dennis Colleran ("Colleran"), penalty phase counsel, Ken Malnik ("Malnik"), friends/family members (Phillip Howard, Viola Miranda, and Miguel Pagan), and mental health experts, Dr. Henry Dee and Dr. Mark Cunningham.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Alternately throughout the trial and other hearings, Miguel Pagan was referred to as Miguel and Michael. The State will use "Miguel Pagan" to indicate Pagan's father.

Based upon the evidence and appellate record, the trial court found Pagan failed to establish a Brady violation or meet his heavy burden under Strickland. Pagan failed to prove that the State suppressed the identity of Alex/Alejandro Ramirez, or that counsel could not have discovered his residence with the use of due diligence. Not only did Colleran admit he used Ramirez to cast doubt on the State's case, but the best he offered in support of a Brady claim was that had he known of the police document identifying where Ramirez lived and as an associate, of co-defendant Graham, counsel would have "pushed heavier" in asserting Ramirez was the perpetrator. The court found such did not establish a Brady violation.

Likewise, the court rejected Pagan's claim that Malnik failed to investigate and present all evidence in mitigation to the jury. Malnik explained he conducted his own mitigation investigation obtaining background documents as well as interviewing witnesses. He passed this information onto his mental health expert, and based upon the result of the investigation and mental health evaluation, he determined it was best to reserve Dr. Jacobson's testimony for the <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> hearing as Pagan's Attention Deficit Disorder, which Dr. Jacobson would report, "didn't necessarily explain the crime to a jury." (PCR.17 1130-35). Further, Malnik explained that his doctor would not find the statutory mental health mitigators, most

likely, because Pagan refused to admit to the crime, thus, he was left with ADD, which he thought was better presented to the trial court alone.

Also, as the court found, Pagan's new mental health experts and family member's testimony offered a different approach to a mitigation presentation; they did not offer any evidence which would establish ineffectiveness under <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>. The family evidence either was cumulative to what was presented at trial or testimony on the more negative aspects of Pagan's upbringing. The doctors merely offered new opinions developed years after trial, or took exception to the trial strategy Malnik employed.

During the evidentiary hearing, Pagan's new clinical neuropsychologist, Dr. Dee, noted that comments contained in school records were consistent with a "history of Attention Deficit Disorder." (PCR.19 1327). He offered that Pagan had a full scale IQ of 120, but the memory scale test indicated cerebral damage/memory impairment. Dr. Dee concluded Pagan has memory problems because his results fell in the normal range, but should have been superior based on his superior range IQ. (PCR.19 1317-22, 1326, 1338, 1342-43). He thought this might Pagan by manifesting itself forgetfulness as "increased impulsivity and irritability." However, Dr. Dee noted it would be difficult to know how memory impairment affected Pagan's behavior during the crime. Although he suggested the

crimes were not sophisticated, and were poorly carried out, he admitted "I don't know all of the details of the crime, only what I've read from the court, you know files and people's comments on it." (PCR.19 1339-41, 1344-45).

Dr. Cunningham, unlicensed in Florida, was found to be an expert in forensic and clinical psychology, but <u>not</u> in Florida mitigation. He was permitted to report on why he believed counsel did not do his job properly. (PCR.19 1472). The pith of Dr. Cunningham's testimony was a disagreement with counsel's strategy. It was the doctor's opinion more emphasis should have been placed on showing how Pagan reached the point in his life to commit murder, and focus on Pagan's history/developmental experiences going to the "catch all" mitigator. (PCR.19 1472-76).

Upon the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing and trial record, the court concluded Pagan failed to carry his burden to obtain relief, because he did not prove his <u>Brady</u> or <u>Strickland</u> claims and the other matters which did not obtain an hearing, either were pled insufficiently, were procedurally barred, were refuted from the record, or were without merit. (PCR.4 640-62). Following the denial of relief, Pagan appealed and with the filing of his initial brief here, he filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in case number SC07-1327. The State's answer to this appeal follows and the response to

the habeas corpus petition is filed under separate cover.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I - The court's rejection of Pagan's <u>Brady</u> claim as it relates to information that an "Alex Ramirez" resided in Turtle Bay, is supported by substantial, competent evidence and the law. Relief was denied properly.

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